STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

A. Mr. Fravel And Mr. Wyckoff.

Wayman Fravel and Keith Wyckoff were long-term employees of Soles Electric Company. It is undisputed that both had solid work records and, unlike the overwhelming majority of employment cases, Soles Electric Company could conjure through the discovery process no negative evidence or information regarding either of them.

Mr. Fravel's official title was "laborer." He had evolved into a jack-of-all-trades position with Soles Electric Company, primarily using his electrical skills.

Mr. Wyckoff was a welder at the time his employment ended. In 13 years of employment, he had worked in various positions with Soles Electric Company.

B. The Workers' Compensation Injuries.

Both Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff suffered injuries while working for Soles Electric Company. Although in an industrial setting injuries are not uncommon, Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff were members of a small group of Soles Electric Company employees who suffered injuries that resulted in total expenditures in excess of \$10,000.¹ Mr. Wyckoff suffered his injury (specifically, a work-related hernia) in 1997. Mr. Fravel suffered a back injury in 1999.

C. The Soles Electric Company Layoff Procedure.

It is undisputed that Soles Electric Company has no formal, structured process for the selection of employees for layoff. No reasons are identified other than "lack of work." It is further

¹ A copy of the Policy Claim Loss Report containing the total costs relating to workers' compensation injuries from July 1, 1995 to April 9, 2002 is attached hereto as "Exhibit A."

undisputed that Soles Electric Company contemplates that layoffs will not be permanent, and that employees will be called back to work when business circumstances justify a recall.

D. The Layoff Of Wayman Fravel.

Soles Electric Company laid off Wayman Fravel in March 2000, based solely on a supposed "lack of work." It is undisputed that Soles Electric Company called back other laborers and hired multiple new laborers following the lay off of Mr. Fravel – and that Soles never called Mr. Fravel back to work.²

E. The Layoff Of Keith Wyckoff.

In September 2000, Soles Electric Company opted to reduce its work force from two welders to one. Soles Electric Company selected Mr. Wyckoff for layoff. It is undisputed that Soles Electric Company did not offer any alternative positions to Mr. Wyckoff, despite his qualifications and experience, and that Soles Electric Company never offered Mr. Wyckoff any of the positions for which other employees were called back to work and/or for which new employees were hired.

F. The Claims.

Mr. Fravel believes that the decision to lay him off and to not call him back to work constitutes discrimination on the basis of his workers' compensation claim. Mr. Wyckoff believes that the decision to lay him off and to not call him back to work or to offer him other positions constitutes discrimination on the basis of his workers' compensation claim and discrimination on the basis of his age, since he is over the age of 50 and the employees who were recalled and hired after his layoff were much younger.

² Responses to Interrogatory No. 4 and Interrogatory No. 6 from the second set of interrogatories to Soles Electric Company lists the persons recalled and the persons newly hired since September 1, 2000. A copy of these responses are attached hereto as "Exhibit B."

G. The Dismissal Of Mr. Wyckoff's Retaliation Claim.

Prior to trial, the Circuit Court dismissed Mr. Wyckoff's claim for workers' compensation retaliation. In an Order dated July 31, 2003, the Circuit Court explained that "Mr. Wyckoff's lay off in March 2000 was simply too far removed temporally from his workers' compensation claim in the Summer of 1997 to support a jury finding of a causal connection." (Opinion Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment of 7/31/03 [hereinafter "Opinion Order"] at 8.)³

H. The Jury Instructions.

In crafting the instructions to be given to the jury, the Circuit Court declined to utilize instructions aimed at enabling the jury to understand the realities of employment discrimination lawsuits, in which the employer rarely if ever admits to having illegal motives for its decision. For example, based on the case of Powell v. Wyoming Cablevision, Inc., 184 W. Va. 700, 704, 403 S.E.2d 717, 721 (1991), Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff offered the following instruction: "Indeed, employers who discriminate against employees who have filed workers' compensation claims rarely broadcast their intentions to the world. Employers who engage in conduct of this kind may be expected to try to avoid detection and they typically will try to accomplish their objections by subtle, rather than obvious means." The Court elected, however, not to give this instruction to the jury, and Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff properly preserved their objection. (Transcript of Plaintiffs' Objections

³ The Circuit Court also noted in the Opinion Order that "there is no evidence of the employer's criticism of Mr. Wyckoff's work performance or harassing conduct at the time of the layoff." (Id. at 8.) However, the same observation could have been made as to Mr. Fravel's claim for workers' compensation retaliation. The only difference is that Mr. Fravel's workers' compensation claim was filed much closer in time to the layoff than was Mr. Wyckoff's workers' compensation claim.

to Court's Charge at 2.)⁴ During the conference regarding the jury instructions, the Circuit Court explained that the language would be excluded because, even though it comes from a decision of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, "It's not a syllabus point." (Transcript of Excerpt of Trial at 10.)⁵

Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff also offered the following instruction, which was adapted from the case of Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc., 198 W. Va. 51, 74, 479 S.E.2d 561, 584 (1996):

[I]t is possible that subconscious or stereotypical thinking motivated Soles Electric Company to take adverse action against [Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff] and for example, Soles Electric Company management employees could testify quite honestly that they did not consider Mr. Fravel's work-related injury or Mr. Wyckoff's age in making the decision to lay them off and not recall them. Yet, they might still be able to prove pretext by showing that management unconsciously considered these factors in terminating their employment, while at the same time, calling back from layoff other employees and hiring new employees.

(Transcript of Plaintiff's Objections to Court's Charge at 2.) The Court elected not to give the instruction, and Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff properly preserved their objection.

Finally, Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff offered the following language from Skaggs, 198 W. Va. at 72 n.21 , 479 S.E.2d at 582 n.21:

Because discrimination is essentially an element of the mind, there probably will be very little direct proof available. Gone are the days, if, indeed, they ever existed, when an employer freely will admit to taking adverse action against an employee for illegal reasons.

⁴ Copies of the relevant pages from the Transcript of the Objections to the Court's Charge are attached hereto as "Exhibit C."

⁵ Copies of the relevant pages from the Transcript of Excerpt of the Trial are attached hereto as "Exhibit D."

(Id. at 3.) Again, the Court decided not to give the instruction, and Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff preserved their objection.

In contrast, the Circuit Court gave Soles Electric Company's instruction regarding the so-called "business judgment" rule, advising the jury that "[w]hether the defendant's decision seemed fair or wise to you is not a basis upon which you may rely in finding that the defendant unlawfully discriminated against the plaintiffs." Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff preserved their objections to this instruction. (Id. at 3.)

A separate problem with the jury instructions flows from the manner in which the Circuit Court delivered the instructions. Rather than piecing together a unitary charge that touches on all relevant issues separately with the language proffered by each party woven into the final text, the Circuit Court read all of the instructions provided by Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff (with revisions), and the Circuit Court then read all of the instructions provided by Soles Electric Company (with revisions).

III.
THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR RELIED UPON ON APPEAL AND THE MANNER IN WHICH IT WAS DECIDED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

A. Whether, in a claim for workers' compensation discrimination, the claim may proceed despite the passage of three years between the filing of the claim and the termination of employment, where the employer previously had no business reason to impose a layoff in the terminated employee's department?

(The Circuit Court answered this question in the negative.)

B. Whether, in an employment discrimination case, the jury instructions created an unfair advantage for the employer by: (1) omitting language offered by the employee, which was intended to ensure that a "meaningful and lucid" charge was given on the issue of liability; (2) including language offered by the employer instructing the jury not to consider whether the decision "seemed fair or wise" in reaching a decision as to liability; and/or (3) failing to give the entire charge regarding liability in a unitary manner, with language offered by both parties woven into a single statement of the law on each issue to be considered.

(The Circuit Court answered this question in the negative.)

IV.
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON,
A DISCUSSION OF THE LAW, AND THE RELIEF PRAYED FOR

A. Mr. Wyckoff's Workers' Compensation Claim Should Have Been Permitted To Proceed.

As the Circuit Court observed in the Order dismissing Mr. Wyckoff's claim for workers' compensation retaliation, a prima facie case for workers' compensation discrimination requires proof that: "(1) an on-the-job injury was sustained; (2) proceedings were instituted under the Workers' Compensation Act . . .; and (3) the filing of a workers' compensation claim was a significant factor in the employer's decision to discharge or otherwise discriminate against the employee." (Opinion Order at 7 (quoting Powell v. Wyoming Cablevision, Inc., 184 W. Va. 700, 701, 403 S.E.2d 717, 718 (1991) (syllabus point 1)).) The Circuit Court likewise recognized that "[b]ecause of the usual lack of direct evidence [of discrimination], courts have looked to a variety of factors. Proximity in time of the claim and the firing is relevant, of course." (Id. (quoting Powell, 184 W. Va. at 704, 403 S.E.2d at 721).)

The Circuit Court concluded that the passage of nearly three years between the date of the injury and the date of the layoff was too extensive to justify a finding that the decision to terminate Mr. Wyckoff's employment violated the law against discrimination on the basis of the filing of a workers' compensation claim. This conclusion, however, does not take into account the complete range of circumstances relating to the layoff.

It is undisputed that, prior to Mr. Wyckoff's layoff, Soles had two full-time welders. Thus, prior to September of 2000, Soles Electric Company had no reason to lay off one of its two

welders. Instead, the supposed need to downsize the work force by one welder did not arise at any time after the date of Mr. Wyckoff's injury through and until September of 2000.

Consequently, the question that needs to be addressed in this context is whether a claim for workers' compensation discrimination should be dismissed as a matter of law based solely on the amount of time that elapses between the injury and the termination notwithstanding evidence that the employer previously had no reason to take adverse action against the employee. Surely, the law does not allow illegal motives to infect decision-making merely because a certain amount of time has gone by between protected activity and termination of employment. Instead, the passage of time should be one of the factors that the jury fairly considers. Any other rule would encourage employers to "bide their time" as to an employee who has filed a workers' compensation claim, complained about sexual harassment, or engaged in any other behaviors that might raise the ire of management – but for which retaliation is morally and legally forbidden.

B. The Jury Instructions Gave An Unfair Advantage To The Defense.

In Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 77, 479 S.E.2d 561, 587 (1996), this Court observed that the trial court in discrimination cases should "bear in mind that the jury's role is the recreation of what happened and should strive to charge it in ways that are meaningful and lucid." As this Court further explained:

The form and language of jury instructions are committed to the sound discretion of the trial court. We would hope, however, that the trial court would use that discretion to avoid repetitious statements of the law that could create an unintended advantage for one side or the other. This is especially true when the inferences to be drawn from the overall evidence are conflicting and could lead to different results.

198 W. Va. at 78, 479 S.E.2d at 588.

In this case, Soles Electric Company's proposed jury instructions contained multiple references to and variations of the so-called "business judgment" rule, a concept that has been mentioned in several decisions of this Court – but not articulated in any syllabus points. E.g., Skaggs, 198 W. Va. at 78, 479 S.E.2d at 588 (addressing in a footnote the propriety of a "business judgment" instruction, after this Court decided that a new trial was required on other grounds). In this case, the final charge incorporated a lengthy passage from Soles Electric Company's proposed instructions, which paraphrased the relevant portion of the Skaggs opinion regarding the business judgment rule. In contrast, and as explained above, the Circuit Court declined to include within the charge certain language proffered by Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff, which likewise was based on statements contained in Skaggs and other decisions of this Court. (See supra p. 5-7.)

The Circuit Court based its decision to exclude the proffered quotations of Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff from Skaggs and other decisions on the fact that such language does not appear in a syllabus point. (See supra p. 6.) Thus, as an initial matter, the use of dicta from Soles Electric Company's proposed instructions and the refusal to incorporate similar statements from the instructions proposed by Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff created an unfair advantage for Soles.

The Circuit Court's practice of pasting together the plaintiff's proposed instructions and the defendant's proposed instructions likely enhanced the employer's advantage. In discrimination cases, the instructions regarding liability should be incorporated into a single statement of the law, balancing the "meaningful and lucid" instructions offered by the plaintiff against those offered by the defendant within the same portion of the charge. By giving what essentially amounted to a "double charge," with the entire body of the instructions proposed by Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff followed by the entire body of Soles Electric Company's proposed

instructions, the jury did not have the benefit of a unitary, comprehensive instruction regarding the critical issue of liability.

Finally, the charge contained a statement that essentially placed a “double burden” on Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff. In Matheny v. Fairmont General Hospital, 212 W. Va. 740, 742, 575 S.E.2d 350, 352 (2002), this Court held at Syllabus Point 5 that “when the jury charge in a negligence action includes an instruction stating the plaintiff’s burden of proof, it is reversible error for the court to also include in the charge an instruction informing the jury of a presumption that the defendant has acted in accordance with the appropriate standard of care or duty.”

This principle should be applied with equal force in employment discrimination cases, especially in light of the Supreme Court’s observations in Skaggs regarding the importance of jury charges that are meaningful and lucid, but that do not give either side an unintended advantage. Based on the fluid, fact-intensive nature of employment discrimination cases, an instruction creating the kind of “double burden” that the Supreme Court prohibited in the Matheny decision could come in many forms.

Here, the final charge contained language that amounted to the creation of a presumption that the decision of the defendant to lay off (and never recall) Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff was legal and valid. Specifically, the charge warned the jury that “whether the defendant’s decisions seem fair or wise to you is not a basis upon which you may rely in finding that the defendant unlawfully discriminated against the plaintiffs.” Contra Skaggs, 198 W. Va. at 74, 479 S.E.2d at 584 (recognizing that proof the employer acted “incorrectly or foolishly . . . would clearly be relevant in proving pretext”).