IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

WAYMAN R. FRAVEL, and
W. KEITH WYCKOFF,

Appellants,

v.

32164
APPEAL NO. 040890

SOLE'S ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.

Appellee.

**The Honorable David A. Janes
Circuit Court of Marion County
Civil Action No. 02-C-69**

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE,
SOLE'S ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.**

Charles G. Johnson (WV ID # 1893)
Bridget D. Furbee (WV ID # 6032)
JACKSON KELLY PLLC
Post Office Box 150
Clarksburg, WV 26302-0150
(304) 624-6555
(304) 623-4933 (facsimile)
Counsel for the Appellee

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

ARGUMENT AND LEGAL AUTHORITY

A. Summary Judgment was proper with respect to a claim of workers’ compensation discrimination when it relates to an injury suffered nearly three years prior to an adverse employment action and there is no other evidence which could support even an inference of discriminatory intent.

The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment with respect to Appellant Wyckoff's claim of workers' compensation discrimination as the basis for his lay-off. The law in West Virginia as to the requirements for a prima facie case of workers' compensation discrimination has been set forth by this Court as follows:

1. An on-the-job injury was sustained;
2. Proceedings were instituted under the Workers' Compensation Act; and
3. The filing of a workers' compensation claim was a significant factor in the employer's decision to discharge or otherwise discriminate against the employee.

Syl. pt. 1, *Powell v. Wyoming Cablevision, Inc.*, 184 W. Va. 700, 403 S.E.2d 717 (1991). The *Powell* decision described the history of these types of claims, noting that "it is a contravention of public policy and actionable to discharge an employee *because* he filed a workmen's compensation claim against his employer." *Powell* at 703, 720 (emphasis added). This Court went on to state the variety of factors that courts have looked at:

Proximity in time of the claim and the firing is relevant, of course. Evidence of satisfactory work performance and supervisory evaluations before the accident can rebut an employer's claim of poor job performance. Any evidence of an actual pattern of harassing conduct for submitting the claim is very persuasive.

Id at 704, 721, citing with approval *Axel v. Duffy-Mott*, 47 N.Y.2d 1, 6, 416 N.Y.S.2d 554, 556, 389 N.E.2d 1075, 1077.

Wyckoff was off work due to his workers' compensation injury from May, 1997 until August, 1997, yet was not laid-off from work until September, 2000. As the trial Court found, the time frame was "simply too far removed temporally from his workers' compensation claim . . . to support a jury finding of a causal connection." (Order, pg. 8.) But the Court did not base its decision on this fact alone. "Further, there is no evidence of the employer's criticism of Mr. Wyckoff's work performance or harassing conduct at the time of the layoff.

To the contrary, Soles appeared to be satisfied with Mr. Wyckoff's job performance." *Id.* Additionally, Appellant offered no evidence of harassment of Appellant Wyckoff (or Fravel) by the employer for filing a workers' compensation claim.

In fact, evidence submitted by Soles' revealed that nearly forty percent (40 %) of its nonexempt employees had had some type of workers' compensation claims. (Morrone Aff.) But perhaps the most telling evidence of all as to the basis for Appellant Wyckoff's lay-off came from Appellant himself. When asked why he believed he was laid-off, he testified that: "I have my suspicions. . . . I think it's who you're friends with down there." (See Deposition of Mr. Wyckoff at page 48, attached hereto as Exhibit "E".) His response to an inquiry as to what reasons he had, other than his feeling, that Soles had discriminated against him, prompted the following response: "None." (Wyckoff Depo at 56.)

The trial court correctly concluded, citing syl. pt. 4, *Hanlon v. Chambers*, 195 W. Va. 99, 464 S.E.2d 741 (1995), that at the summary judgment phase, its function was to "determine whether the proffered admissible evidence shows circumstances that would be sufficient to permit a rational finder of fact to infer a discriminatory motive." Appellant incorrectly focuses only on the passage of time issue, and claims that the question for this Court is "whether a claim for workers' compensation discrimination should be dismissed as a matter of law based solely on the amount of time that elapses between the injury and the termination notwithstanding evidence that the employer previously had no reason to take adverse action against the employee." (See App. Br., pg. 10.)

Appellant Wyckoff has missed the point. The trial court did not grant summary judgment on the sole basis of the passage of time, but on the fact that there was insufficient evidence offered by Wyckoff to permit a jury to infer a discriminatory motive. Even Wyckoff

himself stated that he thought the basis was one of “friendship,” not a motive to eliminate workers who had workers’ compensation claims.

In order to survive a motion for summary judgment, “the plaintiff must make some showing of fact which would support a prima facie case for his claim.” Syl. pt. 2, *Conaway v. Eastern Associated Coal Corp.*, 178 W. Va. 164, 358 S.E.2d 423 (1986). The Appellant failed to show the required “inference” of discrimination as set forth in syl. pt. 2, *Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home*, 193 W. Va. 475, 457 S.E.2d 12 (1995). Notably, the trial court denied Appellee’s motion for summary judgment on Mr. Fravel’s claim of workers’ compensation discrimination, stating that the jury *could* infer an inference of discrimination based on the evidence, which included the fact that Fravel’s layoff came approximately a year after his return to work. (See Order, pg. 8.)

The only case in which this Court has considered the passage of time issue was in the *Nestor v. Bruce Hardwood Floors*, 210 W. Va. 692, 558 S.E.2d 691 (2001), a case in which the Plaintiff was terminated the day after he received an on-the-job injury. *Nestor* reiterated the factors set forth in *Powell* to determine if a causal connection exists: i.e., looking at a “variety of factors that include proximity in time of the claim and the firing, evidence of satisfactory work performance and supervisory evaluations before the accident, and evidence of an actual pattern of harassing conduct for submitting the workers’ compensation claim. *Nestor* at syl. pt. 12. This Court noted that while the issue of a discriminatory animus is generally a question of fact for the jury, especially where a prima facie case exists, it could indeed become a question of law if “only one conclusion could be drawn from the record.” *Nestor* at 695. This is the very type of case in which only one conclusion could be made with respect to a lack of discriminatory intent.

Appellant is attempting to play out the very scenario which Justice Maynard described in his dissenting opinion in *Nestor*:

The majority opinion indicates to me that it is impossible, without having to suffer the ordeal of a trial, for an employer to terminate an employee for any reason if that employee has *recently* filed a workers' compensation claim. As a practical matter, that employee enjoys immunity from discharge for a certain period of time after filing his or her claim. The only valid evidence of workers' compensation discrimination in the instant case is the proximity in time of the claim and the firing. Yet this alone, under our law, does not prove a prima facie case of discrimination sufficient to escape summary judgment. Nevertheless, the majority opinion finds that the appellant can take such an insufficient case to trial.

Id at 697 (emphasis added).

Appellant's theory of the law would always preclude summary judgment in a workers' compensation discrimination case. Appellant's position would require only that a plaintiff have filed a workers' compensation claim. Thereafter, should his or her employer take any adverse employment action, the workers' compensation discrimination claim would be preserved for a jury. Appellant's theory is that the *jury* could consider the passage of time, but not a trial court. However, that is not the law. That theory would make any employee who files a workers' compensation claim eligible to bring an employment discrimination claim should he or she ever suffer an adverse employment action. Such employees would be forever immune from termination by the employer for any reason. Indeed, trial courts would have no role in managing cases—all of these types of cases would simply be tried to juries.

Moreover, if time were the only element that the court could evaluate, as Appellant would propose, how far out would the time frame have to be for a trial court to decide the case on summary judgment where there is no evidence of a bad motive—five years? Ten years? Twenty years? Perhaps Appellant would prefer a bright line test that if an employee

has ever made a workers' compensation claim, his or her employer would be potentially liable in damages for terminating him or her thereafter for any reason whatsoever.

This theory is ludicrous. This Court should affirm the trial court for doing what it is supposed to do---preserving jury trials for matters in which plaintiffs are able to meet a prima facie case, and no others.

B. The instructions given by the trial court were correct statements of the law, were based upon evidence submitted at trial and this Court should give proper deference and affirm those instructions.

1. Jury Instructions Refused.

Appellants argue that the trial court erred by refusing to give three of their proposed jury instructions. However, the court's refusal to give the instructions was proper, as the instructions were not accurate statements of the law.

Appellants offered an instruction based upon dicta from the case of *Powell v. Wyoming Cablevision, Inc.*, 184 W. Va. 700, 704, 403 S.E.2d 717, 721 (1991):

Indeed, employers who discriminate against employees who have filed workers' compensation claims rarely broadcast their intentions to the world. Employers who engage in conduct of this kind may be expected to try to avoid detection and they typically will try to accomplish their objections by subtle, rather than obvious means.

The Court denied this instruction, explaining correctly that this language "was not a syllabus point." (See Instructions Conf., pg. 10.)

Additionally, Appellants contend that the court erred in refusing an instruction that was crafted by counsel, and stated to be based in part upon dicta from *Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., Inc.*, 198 W. Va. 51, 74, 479 S.E.2d 561, 584 (1996):

[I]t is possible that subconscious or stereotypical thinking motivated Soles Electric Company to take adverse action against [Mr. Fravel and Mr. Wyckoff] and for example, Soles Electric Company management employees could testify quite honestly that they did not consider Mr. Fravel's work-related injury or Mr. Wyckoff's age in making the

decision to lay them off and not recall them. Yet, they might still be able to prove pretext by showing that management unconsciously considered these factors in terminating their employment, while at the same time, calling back from layoff other employees and hiring new employees.

This language is clearly not a syllabus point of law. Moreover, Appellants offered no evidence that management “unconsciously considered” the prohibited factors in their layoffs.

Appellants further argue that the trial court erred in refusing the following instruction:

Because discrimination is essentially an element of the mind, there probably will be very little direct proof available. Gone are the days, if, indeed, they ever existed, when an employer freely will admit to taking adverse action against an employee for illegal reasons.

This statement, taken from a footnote in *Skaggs*, is a cite to *Geraci v. Moody-Tottrup, Intern., Inc.*, 82 F.3d 578, 581 (3rd Cir. 1996), but is clearly dicta. In the conference on jury instructions, the trial court described this proposed instruction as “editorial” in nature and refused it. (See Instructions Conf., pg. 16.)

As set forth in Syl. pt. 42 of *Skaggs*, Appellants must show as a threshold matter that the instructions they proposed correctly stated the law. In this case, none of these three instructions refused by the trial court were statements of the law. In fact, had the court *given* such instructions, it would have been error.

2. Jury Instruction Given.

a. Business Judgment Rule

Appellants also contend that the trial court’s instruction on the “business judgment rule” was in error:

Whether the defendant’s decision seemed fair or wise to you is not a basis upon which you may rely in finding that the defendant unlawfully discriminated against the plaintiffs.

The basis for Appellants' objection is unclear. The objection set forth in the record stated as follows: "We also object to the inclusion of the following sentence from Page 29 of the 'Draft Charge'", which was the referenced sentence. (See Transcript of Plaintiffs' Objections at page 3, attached hereto as Exhibit "F".) No basis was given then or now, merely that Appellants object. Again, as set forth in Syl pt. 43 of *Skaggs*: "As a general rule, objections to trial judge's charge must be clear and explicit enough to tell trial judge what the parties want done to correct the alleged error." However, assuming *arguendo* that Appellants somehow preserved their objection by this meager, bald objection without basis, it is clearly a proper statement of the law.

The business judgment rule is derived from the at-will employment rule. Employers can hire and fire employees for any reason, so long as it is not a discriminatory one. See *Harless v. First National Bank*, 162 W. Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978). Syl. pt. 78 of *Skaggs* reiterates this point:

Employment discrimination laws are not a form of job assurance for handicapped individuals or any other protected class members; employers retain the right to restructure jobs and exercise business judgment, including even bad judgment, and employee can be let go for any reason or for no reason, provided the reason is not a prohibited one.

As recently as the October, 2004 term, this Court again set forth this ultimate right of employers in the case of *Pittsnogle v. W. Va. Dept. of Transportation*, ___ W. Va. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___, 2004 W. Va. Lexis 136 at syl. pt. 9 (October 22, 2004):

Not all unfair or unpopular business decisions are discrimination. Certain employer actions may appear unjust or unacceptable to a juror or even to a reviewing court; yet such actions do not necessarily constitute discrimination. The reason need not be a particularly good one. It need not be one which the judge or jury would have acted upon. The reason can be any other reason except that the plaintiff was a member of a protected class. . . .

This instruction was a clear and correct statement of the law, and was properly given to the jury.

b. Jury Instructions as a Whole

Appellants also argue that the trial court erred in the manner of instructions given. The Court took the proposed jury instructions from the Plaintiffs and the proposed jury instructions from the Defendant. These were modified after a conference between the judge and counsel, and the final charge was given which set forth the court's general charge, then the plaintiffs' instructions, followed by the defendant's instructions. Appellants argue that the charge failed to provide a "unitary charge that touches on all relevant issues separately." (See Appellant Brief at 7.) The charge to the jury is submitted herewith for this Court's review at Exhibit "G".

As this Court has recently reiterated:

Jury instructions are reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not misled by the law. A jury instruction cannot be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is looked at when determining its accuracy. A trial court, therefore, has broad discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, so long as the charge accurately reflects the law. Deference is given to a trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion.

Alley v. CAMC at syl. pt. 3.

The trial court gave the jury the instructions on the law based upon its standard charge, and the law as set forth in the parties' proposed instructions. The Court did not blindly combine all of the instructions, but rather considered them as proposed, considered the objections, and made the changes the court thought necessary to fully instruct the jury on the law as impartially as possible. The instructions were legally proper, and the actual wording was clearly within the trial court's discretion. Notably, Appellants made no objections to this issue in their formal objections. This Court should affirm the jury instructions given as correct.

V.

CONCLUSION

The Appellee prays that this Court affirm the Orders of the Marion County Circuit Court and affirm the jury instructions and verdict as proper.